

MAINE STATE LEGISLATURE

The following document is provided by the
LAW AND LEGISLATIVE DIGITAL LIBRARY
at the Maine State Law and Legislative Reference Library
<http://legislature.maine.gov/lawlib>



Reproduced from scanned originals with text recognition applied
(searchable text may contain some errors and/or omissions)

LAWS
OF THE
STATE OF MAINE
AS PASSED BY THE
One Hundred and Sixth Legislature
1ST SPECIAL SESSION
JANUARY 2, 1974 TO MARCH 29, 1974
AND BY THE
One Hundred and Seventh Legislature
REGULAR SESSION
JANUARY 1, 1975 TO JULY 2, 1975

PUBLISHED BY THE DIRECTOR OF LEGISLATIVE RESEARCH IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE REVISED STATUTES OF 1964, TITLE 3,
SECTION 164, SUBSECTION 6.

THE KNOWLTON AND McLEARY COMPANY
FARMINGTON, MAINE
1975

PUBLIC LAWS
OF THE
STATE OF MAINE

AS PASSED BY THE
One Hundred and Seventh Legislature

1975

§ 622. Separability

If any provision of this subchapter is declared unconstitutional, or the applicability thereof to any person or circumstance is held invalid, the constitutionality of the remainder of this subchapter and applicability thereof to other persons and circumstances shall not be affected thereby.

§ 623. Prior liability

The enactment of this subchapter shall not have the effect of terminating, or in any way modifying, any liability, civil or criminal, which shall already be in existence on the effective date of this Act.

§ 624. Repealers

Jurisdiction in all matters pertaining to the registration, distribution and disposal of pesticides and devices is by this subchapter vested exclusively in the commissioner and all acts and parts of acts inconsistent with this subchapter are hereby expressly repealed.

Sec. 4. Effective date. This Act shall be effective on the effective date of section 3 of FIFRA, as amended, and regulations promulgated pursuant thereto; provided that any intrastate pesticide registration under Title 7, chapter 103, subchapter II which is in effect on that date shall, if the registrant has within 60 days of the effective date of such section 3 filed with EPA a notice of application for federal registration for such pesticide, remain in effect, or be renewed under Title 7, chapter 103, subchapter II, until 60 days after the completion of the federal registration process; provided further that during such period no pesticide shall be considered misbranded which would not have been so considered prior to the effective date of this Act. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this section, the commissioner shall, upon the effective date of this Act, be empowered to cancel or suspend any pesticide registration which he finds, pursuant to the procedures of this Act, will cause unreasonable adverse effects on the environment.

Effective October 1, 1975

CHAPTER 383**AN ACT to Provide for State Financing of the Expenses of the Superior and Supreme Judicial Courts.**

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine, as follows:

Sec. 1. 4 MRSA § 4, last 2 sentences, are repealed and the following enacted in place thereof:

Each justice of said court shall be reimbursed by the State for expenses actually and reasonably incurred by him for clerical assistance, postage, stationery, express and telephone tolls, and any other reasonably necessary expenses, upon presentation to the State Controller of an itemized statement of such expenses. The Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court may, by order, prescribe regulations for the submission of such itemized statements through his office and for the advance approval by him of such other reasonably necessary expenses.

Sec. 2. 4 MRSA § 102, last sentence, as last amended by PL 1973, c. 599, § 2, is further amended to read:

Section 4, relating to reimbursement of Justices of the Supreme Judicial Court for expenses incurred by them, shall apply to Justices of the Superior Court, including reimbursement for expenses incurred in employing clerical assistance but ~~which in the aggregate shall not exceed a total sum of \$14,000 per year for all~~ the Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court may specify by order a maximum amount to be expended by any justice for such clerical assistance.

Sec. 3. 4 MRSA § 113, as last amended by PL 1973, c. 540, § 1, is repealed.

Sec. 4. 4 MRSA §§ 115, 116, 117 and 118 are enacted to read:

§ 115. Place for holding court; suitable quarters

In each county, the place for holding court shall be located in a state, county or municipal building designated by the Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court, who, with the advice and approval of the Bureau of Public Improvements, is empowered to negotiate, on behalf of the State, the leases, contracts and other arrangements he considers necessary, within the limits of appropriations and other funds available to the Supreme Judicial and Superior Courts, to provide suitable quarters, adequately furnished and equipped, for the Supreme Judicial or Superior Court in each county.

The facilities of the Superior Court in each county, when that court is not in session, shall be available for other judicial purposes. Arrangements for such use shall be made by the Chief Justice.

If the Chief Justice is unable to negotiate the leases, contracts and other arrangements as provided in the preceding paragraph, he may, with the advice and approval of the Bureau of Public Improvements, negotiate on behalf of the State the leases, contracts and other arrangements he considers necessary, within the limits of the budget and funds available to such court, to provide suitable quarters, adequately furnished and equipped for the Supreme Judicial or Superior Court in privately-owned buildings.

§ 116. Funds of court

All revenue received by the Supreme Judicial or Superior Court from fines, forfeitures, penalties, fees and costs shall accrue to the State, except as otherwise provided under Title 12, sections 3055 and 4508; Title 23, section 1653 and Title 29, section 2302.

§ 117. Other expenses of the court

Within the limits of the budget and the funds available to the Superior and Supreme Judicial Courts, the Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court may authorize the expenditure of funds for such other expenses and capital improvements as are reasonably necessary for the efficient operation of said courts.

§ 118. Support from counties

Effective July 1, 1976, each county shall pay annually to the State for the support of the Supreme Judicial and Superior Courts an amount equal to the direct expenditures by that county during the calendar year 1975 for the support of the Superior and Supreme Judicial Courts in all categories of expense assumed by the State as of July 1, 1976, less the amount received by that county from fines, fees, forfeitures and other revenues from the District, Superior and Supreme Judicial Courts during 1975. Such payments shall be made in equal semiannual installments on July 1st and January 1st of each year. The amount of direct expenditures by the counties during the year 1975 shall be fixed and confirmed by the Treasurer of State.

Sec. 4-A. 4 MRSA § 163, sub-§ 4, as last amended by PL 1967, c. 449, § 3, is repealed and the following enacted in place thereof:

4. Balance to State. The balance remaining in the District Court Fund after paying or setting aside the sums described in this section shall accrue to the State.

Sec. 5. 4 MRSA § 501, first sentence, is amended to read:

In all cases in the Supreme Judicial or in the Superior Court in which the court appoints one or more persons, not exceeding 3, as referees, masters or auditors, to hear the same, their fees and necessary expenses, including stenographic services upon a per diem basis, shall be paid by the ~~county~~ State on presentation of the proper certificate of the clerk of courts for ~~that the county~~ in which such case is pending, or by such of the parties, or out of any fund or subject matter of the action, which is in the custody and control of the court, or by apportionment among such sources of payment, as the court shall direct.

Sec. 6. 4 MRSA § 554, last sentence, is amended to read:

They shall account quarterly under oath to the ~~county treasurer~~ State Auditor for all fees received by them or payable to them by virtue of the office, except fees collected by them in naturalization proceedings, specifying the items, and shall pay the whole amount of the same to the ~~treasurers of their respective counties~~ Treasurer of State quarterly on the 15th days of January, April, July and October of each year.

Sec. 7. 4 MRSA § 556, first and last ¶¶, are amended to read:

The clerk shall keep a true and exact account of all moneys which he receives or is entitled to receive for services by virtue of his office as clerk of the Superior or Supreme Judicial Courts and shall pay the same to the ~~county treasurer~~ Treasurer of State for use of the county in the manner required by law. All other moneys belonging to the county or State respectively shall be paid in 30 days after they are received by him. If in either case he neglects to do so, he shall pay 25% interest thereon until paid. ~~The county treasurer shall notify the Treasurer of State Upon the county treasurer's or Treasurer of State's notice of any such known delinquency and,~~ the clerk's bond shall then be sued.

Whenever any of said funds are ordered by the court to be paid to a person entitled to same, $\frac{1}{2}$ of the accrued interest, if any, shall be paid to the ~~county treasurer~~ Treasurer of State for the use of the county, and the other $\frac{1}{2}$ paid to the claimant unless otherwise ordered by the court. Whenever any of said funds remain unclaimed for 20 years from the date when payable under said court judgment or decree, the clerk shall obtain an order from the court, under whose judgment or decree said funds were placed in his custody, that a comprehensive abstract of the facts be advertised for 3 weeks successively in a newspaper of general circulation published in the county, and if no one appears to claim said funds within 60 days after date of the last publication, the same shall become forfeited to the ~~county~~ State and be paid by said clerk to the ~~county treasurer~~ Treasurer of State for the use of the county. That portion of this section providing for the forfeiture of unclaimed funds shall apply to funds held by the clerk of courts for 20 years or more prior to September 16, 1961.

Sec. 8. 4 MRSA § 562, 3rd sentence, is amended to read:

Before entering upon his official duties, each deputy shall be sworn and shall give a bond to the clerk, approved by ~~the county commissioners~~ said Chief Justice and lodged in the office of the ~~county treasurer~~ State Auditor, in the sum of \$8,000, conditioned that he will faithfully perform all the duties required of his office.

Sec. 9. 4 MRSA § 562, 2nd ¶, 4th sentence, is amended to read:

Before entering upon his official duties, each special deputy shall be sworn and if the clerk deems it advisable, he shall give bond to the clerk, approved by ~~the county commissioners~~ said Chief Justice and lodged in the office of the ~~county treasurer~~ State Auditor, in the sum of \$8,000, conditioned that he will faithfully perform the duties of his office.

Sec. 10. 4 MRSA § 567, is amended to read:

§ 567. No recording officer to be attorney or sue in own court nor draft or aid in drafting paper to be recorded

No clerk, register or recording officer of any court of the State shall be attorney or counselor in any civil action or matter pending in such court; neither shall he commence actions to be entered therein, nor draft nor aid in drafting any document or paper which he is by law required to record, in full or in part, under a penalty of not more than \$100, to be recovered by indictment for the benefit of the ~~county~~ State.

Sec. 11. 4 MRSA § 651, 2nd ¶, first sentence, is amended to read:

Official Court Reporters appointed by the Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court shall receive, from the ~~county in which the court or proceeding is held~~ State, when the court or proceeding is held, their expenses when in attendance upon such court or proceeding away from their place of residence but not otherwise.

Sec. 12. 4 MRSA § 652, is repealed and the following enacted in place thereof:

§ 652. Approval and payment of reporter's expenses

All expense statements of Court Reporters pursuant to the 2nd paragraph of section 651 shall, after being approved by the presiding justice, be submitted to the office of the Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court, and shall be further approved by him before payment by the Treasurer of State.

Sec. 13. 14 MRSA § 1252, last ¶, is amended to read:

Said salaries shall be paid by the ~~respective counties~~ State in ~~quarterly~~ monthly payments on the last day of each ~~quarter~~ month, and their expenses shall be paid from time to time by the ~~respective counties~~ State on bills approved by a ~~Justice of the Superior Court~~ the Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court.

Sec. 14. 14 MRSA § 1255, last ¶, as enacted by PL 1967, c. 510, § 2, is amended to read:

~~The~~ With the approval of the Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court, the jury commissioners may employ or engage an executive secretary such as the clerk of courts or other qualified person to assist the commissioners in carrying out ~~its~~ their functions. Any such person shall receive such compensation as may be established and paid for by the ~~county commissioners~~ Chief Justice ~~from county funds~~ and actual necessary expenses incurred in the performance of his duties, to be paid by the State.

Sec. 15. 15 MRSA § 1941, is amended to read:

§ 1941. Duties of clerks as to bills of costs and certificates of fines

Clerks of court shall attest duplicate copies of all bills of costs allowed therein and certificates of all fines and forfeitures imposed and accruing to the ~~county before the rising of the court or immediately after~~ State at such intervals as the Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court may direct, and deliver one of said copies and certificates to the ~~county treasurer~~ Chief Justice and retain one ~~for the use of the county commissioners~~ in his office. After approval by the Chief Justice, one of said copies and certificates shall be forwarded to the Treasurer of State and the treasurer shall pay the witness fees and other proper expenses noted thereon.

Sec. 16. 15 MRSA § 1943, is amended to read:

§ 1943. Fines, costs and forfeitures in Superior Court

Every clerk of a Superior Court shall render under oath a detailed account of all fines, costs and forfeitures upon convictions and sentences before him, on forms prescribed by the State Department of Audit, and shall pay them into the ~~treasury of the county where the offense is prosecuted~~ State Treasury on or before the 15th day of the month following the collection of such fines, costs and forfeitures. ~~The county treasurer, upon approval of the county commissioners, shall pay to the State, town, city or persons any portion of the fines, costs and forfeitures that may be due~~ Any person who fails to make

such payments into the ~~county treasury~~ State Treasury shall forfeit, in each instance, double the amount so neglected to be paid over, to be recovered by indictment for the persons entitled to such fines, costs and forfeitures, and in default of payment, according to the sentence of the court, such persons shall be punished by imprisonment for not more than 6 months.

Sec. 17. 15 MRSA § 1981, first ¶, and 2nd ¶, as amended by PL 1973, c. 567, § 20, are amended to read:

Sheriffs, jailers and constables who by virtue of their office receive any fines, forfeitures or bills of costs, ~~except debts and costs received upon executions in favor of the State~~ shall forthwith pay them to the ~~treasurer of the county in which they accrued~~ Treasurer of State.

If any such officer neglects to pay over such fine, forfeiture or costs for 30 days after the receipt thereof; or if he permits any person, sentenced to pay such fine, forfeiture or bill of costs and committed to his custody, to go at large without payment, unless by order of court, and does not within 30 days after such escape pay the amount thereof to the ~~county treasurer~~ Treasurer of State, he forfeits to the ~~county~~ State double the amount. The ~~county treasurer~~ Treasurer of State shall give notice of such neglect to the ~~district attorney~~ Attorney General, who shall sue therefor in a civil action in the name of such treasurer.

Sec. 18. 15 MRSA § 1983, first ¶ is amended to read:

Each sheriff, as often as every 3 months, shall deliver to the ~~treasurer of his county~~ Treasurer of State all securities ~~by him~~ taken by him for fines and costs, on the liberation of poor convicts from prison pursuant to law.

Sec. 19. 15 MRSA § 2031 is amended to read:

§ 2031. Fees claimed within 3 years

Sums allowed to any person as fees or for expenses in any criminal prosecution and payable from the ~~county treasury~~ State Treasury may be claimed by such person of the ~~county treasurer~~ Treasurer of State at any time within 3 years after the allowance, and not afterwards.

Sec. 20. 15 MRSA § 2032 is amended to read:

§ 2032. Schedule of securities

A schedule of all securities with the amount due on each, received by the ~~county treasurer~~ Treasurer of State from the sheriff pursuant to section 1983, shall be ~~by him laid before the county commissioners at their next session,~~ to be filed by the sheriff with the clerk. The ~~county commissioners~~ clerk, from time to time, shall examine such securities, and, where he deems appropriate, shall request that the court order the ~~county attorney~~ Attorney General to take such measures for their collection as ~~they judge~~ are deemed expedient or authorize the treasurer to compound and cancel them on such terms as ~~they direct~~ may be ordered.

Sec. 21. 15 MRSA § 2033 is amended to read:

§ 2033. Treasurer's annual report to Attorney General

The Treasurer of State shall, on or before the 20th day of November, annually, make a report to the Attorney General showing the amount paid out of his office during the year ending on the first day of said November for costs of prosecutions in the Superior Court; to grand jurors and traverse jurors in terms of court held for criminal business; and the amount received from fines, costs and forfeitures in said courts from judges, jailers and other officers.

The county treasurer shall, on or before the 20th day of November, annually, make a report to the Attorney General showing the amount paid out of his office during the year ending on the first day of said November for costs of prosecutions in the Superior Court; upon bills of costs allowed by county commissioners for support of prisoners in jail; and to grand jurors and to traverse jurors at terms of court held for criminal business; and the amount received from fines, costs and forfeitures in said courts from judges, jailers and other officers.

Neglect to make and forward such report is a breach of his official bond, and for every day of such neglect he forfeits \$5 to the State, and the Attorney General shall bring an action on such treasurer's official bond to recover such forfeiture.

The obligation of county treasurers under this section shall continue, after the effective date of this Act, with respect to moneys received by them during that portion of the year prior to the effective date of this Act; and thereafter, only with respect to such moneys as continue to be paid out or received for the benefit of the county.

Sec. 22. 16 MRSA § 252, 2nd sentence is amended to read:

Whenever any fines or penalties are imposed by any court in any proceeding in which such a police officer or constable is a complainant or a witness, said court may tax costs for such complainant or witness in the usual manner to be paid by the ~~county treasurer~~ Treasurer of State ~~upon approval of the county commissioners~~ to the municipality employing such police officer or constable; such costs shall not exceed his actual expenses, paid by the municipality for his travel to and attendance at the court.

Sec. 23. 27 MRSA § 222, first sentence is amended to read:

The treasurer of each library association, under the direction of the trustees, shall apply all moneys received of the county treasurer, of the Treasurer of State and all bequests and gifts, to form a law library under the appointed regulations.

Sec. 24. 27 MRSA § 224, first and last ¶¶, as repealed and replaced by PL 1971, c. 255, are repealed and the following enacted in place thereof:

The Treasurer of State shall pay annually to the treasurer of the Law Library Associations of the several counties for the uses and benefits of the county law libraries as follows:

The treasurer of each Law Library Association shall account to the State Auditor for all receipts and disbursements made under this section. All such receipts and disbursements shall be subject to audit.

Sec. 25. 30 MRSA § 2, first ¶ as last amended by PL 1973, c. 724, § 2, is further amended to read:

The county commissioners, ~~clerks of the judicial courts and their deputies~~ county treasurers and their deputies, sheriffs, registers of deeds, judges of probate and registers of probate in the several counties shall receive annual salaries from the county treasury in weekly or monthly payments as follows, except that ~~clerks of judicial courts and their deputies, bailiffs and other court and jury officers required~~, the district attorneys and their assistants shall receive annual salaries from the State Treasury in monthly payments on the last day of each month in a sum which will, in the year's aggregate, most nearly equal the annual salary, as follows, and no other fees, costs or emoluments shall be allowed them, except as hereinafter provided:

Sec. 26. 30 MRSA § 2, next to last ¶, as amended by PL 1973, c. 567, § 6 and the last ¶, as repealed and replaced by PL 1973, c. 724, § 4, are repealed and the following enacted in place thereof:

The salaries mentioned in this section shall be in full compensation for the performance of all official duties by said officers and judges. County commissioners shall allow to said officers, excepting clerks of court, all office expense, clerk hire and travel which are necessary, just and proper to the performance of their official duties. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, they shall allow to sheriffs the costs of boarding, guarding and transporting prisoners, whether awaiting trial, during trial or after conviction, and whether acting within or outside the county. The Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court shall allow to clerks of courts, for payment by the State, their office expense, clerk hire and travel which, in his opinion, are necessary, just and proper to the performance of their official duties. Clerks shall secure approval of such expenses at such time and in such manner as the Chief Justice shall direct.

All fees and charges of whatever nature, except charges for the publication of notices required by law, which may be payable to any county officer, except clerks of court, shall be payable by them to the county treasurer for the use and benefit of the county, but preserving the right of sheriffs and their deputies to receive fees for the service of civil process and of sheriffs and their deputies not on a salary or per diem basis to receive fees for service of criminal process, and no county officer shall receive a private benefit from the labor of any person in the employ of the county. The fee payable to clerks of courts shall be payable by them as elsewhere provided by law; or in the absence of express provision, to the State. Fees chargeable by sheriffs and their deputies for service of civil process shall be collected by them exclusively from the litigants. Fees chargeable by sheriffs and deputies not on salary or per diem for service of criminal process shall be approved by the respective district attorneys, and paid by the respective county treasurers.

Sec. 27. 30 MRSA § 53 is repealed.

Sec. 28. 30 MRSA § 301, first sentence is amended to read:

The county commissioners shall, in the shire town of their county, provide and keep in repair courthouses pursuant to Title 4, section 115 with a suit-

able room in each for the county law library; fireproof buildings of brick or stone for the safekeeping of records and papers belonging to the offices of registers of deeds, and of probate and insolvency, and of the clerk of courts, with separate fireproof rooms, and suitable alcoves, cases or boxes for each office, and any other necessary buildings.

Sec. 29. 30 MRSA § 751, as amended by PL 1967, c. 326, is further amended to read:

§ 751. Accounts; enforcing payment of taxes

The treasurer shall keep his books and accounts on such form and in such manner as shall be approved by the State Department of Audit and shall apply all moneys received by him for the use of the county toward defraying its expenses, as the county commissioners and the Supreme Judicial or Superior Court by their written order direct. Each treasurer shall account with the commissioners of his county for all receipts and payments. He may enforce payment of taxes in the manner prescribed for the Treasurer of State. ~~No term of Superior Court shall adjourn until the presiding justice shall certify to the county treasurer that all expenses incurred during such term have been submitted for payment~~

Sec. 29-A. Appropriation. There is appropriated to the Supreme Judicial and Superior Courts from the General Fund the sum of \$2,466,591 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1977 to carry out the purposes of this Act. The breakdown shall be as follows:

	1976-77
SUPREME JUDICIAL AND SUPERIOR COURTS	
Unallocated	\$2,466,591

Sec. 30. Effective date. Except as provided in Title 30, section 2, this Act shall become effective July 1, 1976.

The authority of the Chief Justice, under Title 4, section 115 as added by this Act, to negotiate leases shall be effective January 1, 1976, but the term of such leases may not commence prior to July 1, 1976.

Effective July 1, 1976 unless otherwise indicated

CHAPTER 384

AN ACT to Increase Exemptions for the Inheritance Tax and to Increase the Inheritance Tax Rate.

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine, as follows:

36 MRSA §§ 3462-3464 are amended to read:

§ 3462. Tax on Class A

Property which shall so pass to or for the use of the following persons who shall be designated as Class A, to wit: Husband, wife, lineal ancestor, lineal